COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

Between

VP Credit Union

(hereinafter referred to as the "Employer")



And



(Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378)

(hereinafter referred to as the "Union")

November 17, 2014 to December 31, 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTIC	CLE 1 — PURPOSE	6
1.2	Discrimination	6
1.3	Respectful Workplace	6
ARTIC	CLE 2 — UNION SECURITY and RECOGNITION	7
2.1	Application of Agreement	7
2.2	Closed Shop	7
2.3	Closed Shop Prior to Certification	7
2.4	Remittances	7
ARTIC	CLE 3 - UNION and EMPLOYER REPRESENTATIVE	8
3.1	Recognition of Union Executive Board Members, Councilors, Job Stewards and Representatives	
3.2	Rights of Job Stewards	8
3.3	Carrying Out Steward Duties	8
3.4	Committees	9
ARTIC	CLE 4 - RIGHTS OF THE EMPLOYER	10
4.1	Rights of the Employer	10
ARTIC	CLE 5 - DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES	11
5.1	Probationary Period	11
5.2	Full-Time Regular	11
5.3	Part Time Regular	11
5.4	Temporary	11
5.5	Casual	12
ARTIC	CLE 6 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	13
6.1	Standard Day	13
6.2	Unpaid Lunch Hour	13
6.3	Relief Periods (Coffee Breaks)	13
6.4	Overtime Premiums	13
6.5	Meal Break During Overtime	14
6.6	Call Outs	14
6.7	Declining Overtime	14
6.8	Payment of Overtime Hours	14
6.9	Approval of Overtime	14
ARTIC	CLE 7 — STATUTORY HOLIDAYS	15
7.1	Statutory Holidays Defined	15
7.2	Statutory Holidays Falling During Vacation	15

Collective Agreement – VP Credit Union and MoveUP (Canadian Office & Professional Employees Union, Local 378) Term: November 17, 2014 to December 31, 2017

7.3	Holidays Falling on a Week End	15
7.4	Statutory Holiday Pay for Part-Time Employees	15
ARTIC	LE 8 — ANNUAL VACATION and SUPPLEMENTARY VACATIONS	17
8.1	Vacation Year Defined	17
8.2	Vacation Escalation	17
8.3	Scheduling of Vacation	18
8.4	Banked Vacation	19
8.5	Vacation Pay at Termination of Employment	19
8.6	Required Vacations	19
8.7	Vacation Entitlement and Pay for Regular Part-Time, Casual and Temporary	Employees 20
8.8	Vacation Rescheduling	20
8.9	Vacation Pay while on Unpaid Leaves of Absence	20
ARTIC	LE 9 — LEAVE of ABSENCE	21
9.1	Union Business	21
9.2	Bereavement Leave	21
9.3	Jury Duty	21
9.4	Pregnancy/Parental/Adoption Leave	22
9.5	Special Leave Without Pay	22
9.6	Maintenance of Position	22
9.7	Personal Days	23
ARTIC	LE 10 - BENEFITS and SICK LEAVE	24
10.1	Eligibility for Benefits	24
10.2	Benefit Plans	24
10.3	Premium Costs	24
10.4	Short and Long Term Disability Leave	24
10.5	Incidental Sick Leave	25
10.6	RRSP	25
ARTIC	LE 11 — SALARY POLICY	27
11.1	Salary Schedule	27
11.2	Job Descriptions	27
11.3	Change in Job Description, New Positions	27
11.4	Promotional Increases	27
11.5	Salary Progression	27
11.6	Progression Withheld	28
11.7	Salary Policy on Recalls and Demotions	28
11.8	Red Circling RE Article 17	28
11.9	Pay for Temporary Duties and Cross Training	29

Collective Agreement – VP Credit Union and MoveUP (Canadian Office & Professional Employees Union, Local 378) Term: November 17, 2014 to December 31, 2017

ARTIC	LE 12 — JOB POSTING	30
12.1	Posting of Jobs	30
12.2	Bidding of Jobs	30
12.3	Selection	30
12.4	Cross Training	30
12.5	Staff Development and Training	30
12.6	Career Development	31
12.7	Mutual Funds	31
12.8	Lateral Transfers	31
ARTIC	LE 13 - LAYOFF AND RECALL	32
13.1	Bumping Rights	32
13.2	Notice Period	32
13.3	Recall List	32
13.4	Recall	32
13.5	Notice of Recall	32
13.6	Obligation of Employee RE Contract Information	33
ARTIC	LE 14 — SENIORITY	34
14.1	Seniority Defined	34
14.2	Completion of Seniority	34
14.3	Re-entering the Bargaining Unit	34
14.4	Seniority for Tempoary Workers	34
14.5	Seniority for Laid Off Employees	34
14.6	Seniority During Approved Leaves of Absence	34
14.7	Seniority Accrual	34
14.8	Providing Seniority Lists to Union	34
14.9	Seniority With Change of Status	34
14.10	Posting Seniority Lists	35
ARTIC	LE 15 — GENERAL PROVISIONS	36
15.1	Bulletin Board	36
15.2	No Strikes or Lockouts	36
15.3	Disciplinary Action	36
15.4	Picket Lines	36
15.5	Banking Privileges	
15.6	Car Mileage Allowance	37
15.7	No Contracts Conflicting With Collective Agreement	37
15.8	Written Warnings on the File	37
15.9	Exclusivity of Bargaining Unit Work	37

15.10	Occupational Health and Safety	37
15.11	Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committee	37
15.12	Industrial First Aid Requirement and Courses	38
ARTIC	LE 16 – DISCHARGE, TERMINATION AND SUSPENSION	39
16.1	Employer Right to Discharge	39
16.2	Severance and Notice	39
16.3	Re-instatement Following Discharge	39
16.4	Required Notice Upon Resignation	39
ARTIC	LE 17 — TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE and SEVERANCE PAY	40
17.1	Notice Requirements RE tech Changes	40
17.2	Retraining for Redundant Employees	40
17.3	Employee Rights After Being Declared Redundant	40
17.4	Timing of Severance Pay	40
17.5	Severance Pay Calculation	40
ARTIC	LE 18 — GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	41
18.1	Grievance Defined	41
18.2	Grievance Steps	41
18.3	Time Extensions	42
ARTIC	LE 19 - ALTERNATE DISPUTE RESOLUTION	43
19.1	Description of Dispute Resolution Process	43
ARTIC	LE 20 - ARBITRATION	44
20.1	Referring to Arbitration	44
20.2	Selecting an Arbitrator	44
20.3	Power of the Arbitrator	44
20.4	Arbitration Expenses	44
ARTIC	LE 21 DURATION	45
21.1	Term of the Agreement	45
21.2	Exclusion of Section 50 (2) & (3) of Labour Code	45
APPEN	DIX "A" JOB TITLES AND CLASSIFICATIONS	46
APPEN	NDIX "B" WAGE SCALE	47
New	Grid including January 1, 2015 2% General Wage Increase	47
Janua	ary 1, 2016 Wage Grid	48
Janua	ary 1, 2017 Wage Grid	49
	JLATION OF RATES	
I ETTE	P OF UNDERSTANDING #1 _ CRAVELEV LOCATION	F1

ARTICLE 1 — PURPOSE

1.1 Purpose

The purpose of this Agreement is to maintain a harmonious relationship between the Employer and its employees, to define clearly the hours of work, rates of pay, and conditions of employment; to provide for an amicable method of settling differences which may from time to time arise; and to promote the mutual interest of the Employer and its employees and in recognition whereof the Parties hereto covenant and agree as follows:

1.2 Discrimination

Neither the Union nor the Employer in carrying out their obligations under this Agreement shall discriminate in matters of hiring, training, promotion, transfer, lay-off, discharge or otherwise because of race, colour, Ancestry, place of origin, religion, family status, physical or mental disability, age (19+), sex, sexual orientation, criminal convictions not directly related to employment, political belief, or marital status.

1.3 Respectful Workplace

- a) The Parties recognize the right of all employees to work in an environment which promotes respect, is free from all forms of harassment and supports the dignity, self-esteem and productivity of every employee. Any form of harassment of or by employees, members, contractors, suppliers or other individuals associated with the Employer while engage in activities pertaining to the workplace will not be tolerated.
- b) The Employer shall take such actions as are necessary concerning harassment in the workplace in accordance with "Workplace Harassment Policy" set out by the Employer.
- c) In the event the matter is not resolved under the Workplace Harassment Policy, the Union may raise a grievance at Step 3 within ninety (90) calendar days of the original complaint. Notice of any grievance will be given to the alleged harasser.
- d) An Arbitrator hearing a grievance under this clause shall have the authority to:
 - i. Uphold or dismiss the grievance;
 - ii. Retain jurisdiction to resolve any matters related to the grievance; and/or
 - iii. Make such further orders as may be necessary to provide a final and binding resolution of the grievance.
- e) No employee will suffer adverse employment consequences as a result of making a good faith complaint or taking part in the investigation of a complaint. An employee who knowingly alleges a false claim against another employee or individual, or engages in any acts of retaliation against employees for making a report, will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

ARTICLE 2 — UNION SECURITY AND RECOGNITION

- 2.1 This Agreement shall apply solely to employees in the bargaining unit for which the Union is certified under the Labour Relations Code and shall be binding on the Employer and the Union and their respective successors and assigns.
- 2.2 All employees covered under this Agreement shall, as a condition of employment, become and remain members of the Union within thirty (30) days from the effective date of this Agreement.
- 2.3 All employees hired subsequent to the signing date of this Agreement shall, as a condition of employment, become and remain members of the Union within thirty (30) days from the date of employment.
- 2.4 The Employer will honour written assignments of wages for Union dues, initiation fees and general membership assessments and shall remit such to the Union monthly together with the following information as to the persons from whose pay such deductions have been made:
 - (a) Name, address, phone number
 - (b) Monthly Salary
 - (c) Amount of dues deducted
 - (d) Job Classification
 - (e) Employee Status
 - (f) Date of Hire
 - (a) New Hires
 - (h) Terminations/retirements
 - (i) Work location

Such information shall be supplied by the Employer and in a form mutually acceptable to the parties.

ARTICLE 3 - UNION AND EMPLOYER REPRESENTATIVE

3.1 Recognition of Union Executive Board Members, Councillors, Job Stewards and Union Representatives

- a) The Employer will recognize individuals and/or employees elected, appointed, and/or designated by the Union as its qualified Executive Board Members, Councilors, Job Stewards and Union Representatives. The Employer shall recognize two (2) regular employees elected or appointed by the Union as Job Stewards. The Employer shall also recognize one (1) regular employee elected or appointed by the Union as an alternate Job Steward. The Union may identify one Job Steward as the Chief Steward.
- b) The Union will notify the Employer in writing as to who are the elected, appointed and/or designated Executive Board Members, Councilors, Job Stewards and Union Representatives authorized by the Union to discuss and wherever possible resolve problems arising out of the Collective Agreement.
- c) In the event that an alternative to the Job Steward is assigned by the Union to discuss and, wherever possible, resolve a problem arising out of the Agreement, reasonable notice will be provided in advance by the Union to the Employer.

3.2 Rights of Job Stewards

The duties and responsibilities of Job Stewards shall include the following activities:

- a) Investigation of complaints, grievances, and/or disputes including the making of presentations to management as required.
- b) Posting notices relating to meetings, dues, entertainment, health and safety and general Union information and activities on Union Bulletin Boards.
- c) Participation in collective bargaining, and/or arbitration proceedings when directed by the Union.
- d) Participation in the administration of the Union as may be required for Union Executive Meetings and Job Steward Meetings.
- e) Briefing time of up to one (1) hour prior to grievance meetings as set out under the Grievance Procedure.
- 3.3 The Job Steward(s) may, within reason, carry out their duties in Article 3.2 Rights of Job Stewards (a), (b), and (e) above, without loss of pay, during regular business hours and it shall be considered as time worked. Before carrying out their duties relating to 3.2(a), (b), and (e), during regular working hours, the Job Steward will first obtain permission from the manager or his/her designate at his/her location. Such permission will not be unreasonably withheld. It is understood that the Job Steward will carry out his/her duties in a manner as to cause a minimum of

interference to normal job duties and business operations. Job Stewards who carry out their duties as per Article 3.2 (c) and (d) above shall be covered by Article 9.1.

3.4 Committees

- a) Each Party to this Agreement shall appoint a Standing Committee.
- b) The Union's Committee shall be composed of not more than two (2) regular employees who have completed their probationary period and are Union members.
- c) Each Party shall notify the other by letter of the names of their Committee members and any changes which may take place from time to time.
- d) The purpose of the Standing Committee shall be to meet together at the request of either Committee to discuss matters related to the administration of the Collective Agreement and to attempt to resolve any problems that may arise or can be foreseen.
- e) The Parties agree to appoint members of the Standing Committee within one month following ratification of a renewal Collective Agreement. Meetings will be scheduled bimonthly although more frequent meetings may be held if the parties are agreed that there are sufficient issues which necessitate the need for additional meetings. At the beginning of each calendar year the Parties will set dates for the Standing Committee meetings for the rest of the year.
- f) The Parties also agree to set agenda items for each meeting and to exchange agenda items for discussion at upcoming meetings in advance of such meetings. This does not preclude the discussion of any issue which either Party may view as requiring immediate review. However, the Parties agree to make every reasonable effort to exchange agenda items in advance.
- g) No Standing Committee meetings will be scheduled during July and August.
- h) The meetings will occur during work hours.
- i) The Union's full-time Representative may attend such meetings.
- j) A decision by the Union's Standing Committee must be confirmed by an official representative of the Union in order to bind the Union.

ARTICLE 4 - RIGHTS OF THE EMPLOYER

4.1 Rights of the Employer

The Union recognizes the right of the Employer to operate the business and direct the workforce subject to the provisions of this Agreement and the right of the Union or employees to grieve as provided in Articles 18, 19, and 20.

a) Management Rights

Management shall have the exclusive right to hire new employees. Management shall promote, transfer, lay off, recall and exercise its rights in accordance and within the terms of this Collective Agreement. Management shall have the right to discharge and/or suspend employees for just cause in accordance with this Agreement.

b) Retention of Rights

Management retains all management rights that where hitherto exercised and shall be exercised in the future with the exception of those management rights that are limited by this Collective Agreement.

c) Direction of Staff

Actual direction of the office staff will be under the authority delegated by the Board of Directors to the General Manager who, in turn, may delegate any portion of these duties and authority to others in management.

d) Procedures, Policies, Rules and Regulations

The Employer shall have the right to make, alter and eliminate from time to time procedures, policies, rules and regulations to be observed by the employees provided they are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement. The Employer shall forward a copy of all procedures, policies, rules, regulations and any amendments to the Union. Where a procedure, policy, rule or regulation established by the Employer conflicts with any provision contained in this Agreement, this Agreement shall take precedence.

e) Statutory Authorities

The Parties acknowledge that there are obligations and duties for Directors of the Employer which relate specifically to Credit Unions which arise out of various statutory authorities. Nothing contained herein which has been bargained in that context is intended to conflict with or limit those obligations and duties. It is intended that where it appears that such a conflict exists, it is the intent of the Parties that they mutually resolve such conflict whether it arises out of existing or future statutory authority.

f) Non Discrimination

This Article shall not be used in a discriminatory manner against any employee and the exercise of any rights under this Article shall not be inconsistent with or contrary to any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement.

g) Promotion of Business

It is understood and agreed that it is in the interest of VP Credit Union and MoveUP members to work together as partners in providing best service to Credit Union members and to secure, maintain and grow the business of the Credit Union.

ARTICLE 5 - DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES

5.1 Probationary Period

- a) All regular employees shall be considered probationary for the first ninety [90] calendar days of employment. This period may be extended by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union. A performance review will be done at least twenty [20] working days prior to the end of their probationary period. A final appraisal will be completed at the end of the probationary period, at which time a decision on the suitability of the employee for continued employment will be made by the Employer.
- b) Each new employee shall be provided a letter of engagement and a listing of all the Job Stewards, and the Job Steward at the appropriate branch will be notified of the employee's name.
- c) Each new employee will be provided with a thirty (30) minute Union orientation period within one (1) month of the employee's initial hire. This orientation period will be conducted on the Employer's premises within the normal working day at a mutually agreeable time, by an elected Job Steward.

5.2 Full-Time Regular

All employees hired to work on a regular full-time basis.

5.3 Part Time Regular

An employee hired to work on a continuing basis, who is scheduled no less than fifteen (15) hours in any week. These employees shall be covered by all conditions of this Agreement unless otherwise defined in this Agreement.

5.4 Temporary

A temporary employee is one so informed in writing by the Employer at the start of employment. Temporary employment shall be for a specified period not exceeding one hundred twenty (120) calendar days. The one hundred twenty (120) calendar day timeframe can be extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the Employer. Maternity and Long Term illness leaves are not restricted to the one hundred twenty (120) calendar day timeframe. These employees are not covered by the seniority, benefits and sick leave provisions. A temporary employee reaching regular status will obtain rights under this agreement which are based on length of service or seniority dated from the start of continuous employment. Seniority will be as provided under Article 14 of the Collective Agreement.

5.5 Casual

An employee hired to work as and when required, with no guaranteed hours of work. These employees are not covered by the seniority and benefit provisions of the Collective Agreement. A casual employee reaching regular status will obtain rights under this Agreement which are based on length of service or seniority dated from the start of continuous employment. Seniority will be as provided under Article 14 of the Collective Agreement.

ARTICLE 6 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

6.1 Standard Day

- a) The standard day shift shall consist of seven (7) hours per day between the hours of 8:00 A. M. and 6:00 P.M. The standard work week shall consist of thirty-five (35) hours, Monday through Saturday inclusive.
- b) The determination of the starting time of daily and weekly work schedules and scheduled days off for all regular employees shall be made by the employer. In the event of any changes in starting and quitting times of shifts, the Employer agrees to give at least fifteen (15) days' notice of any change.
- c) In the event the Credit Union decides to open on Saturdays, the Employer will give the employees at least sixty (60) calendar days advanced notice of the upcoming change.
- d) The principle of two (2) consecutive days off shall prevail for all employees.
- A one (1) hour unpaid lunch period will be provided and taken within the three (3) hours in the middle of the regular working day. Precise time to be arranged between the Employer and the employee. A part-time employee may elect to have a shorter unpaid lunch period if he/she is working less than the standard seven (7) hour work day.
- 6.3 Two (2) relief periods per day of fifteen (15) minutes each, one (1) in the morning and one (1) in the afternoon, shall be provided without loss of pay. Part-time employees will be entitled to the following:
 - Two (2) to five (5) hours worked one (1) fifteen (15) minute rest period; in excess of five (5) hours worked two (2) fifteen minute rest periods.

6.4 Overtime Premiums

- a) Time worked in excess of the standard day shift shall be paid for at time and one-half (1½) the employee's straight time hourly rate for the first two (2) hours and two (2) times the straight time hourly rate thereafter.
- b) Time worked by an employee on the employee's scheduled day off shall be paid for at time and one-half (1½) the employee's straight time hourly rate for the first two (2) hours and two (2) times the straight time hourly rate thereafter.
- c) Time worked on a Sunday shall be paid for at two (2) times the employee's straight time hourly rate.

d) Time worked on a holiday provided for in Article 7 or a day in lieu of such holiday shall be paid for at two (2) times the employee's straight time hourly rate, plus one (1) day's regular pay.

6.5 Meal Break during Overtime

An employee who works overtime beyond a regular shift shall be allowed a suitable hot meal and one hour paid meal period in which to eat the meal at his/her straight time hourly rate of pay provided such overtime is in excess of two (2) hours work. The meal period may be taken before, during or after the overtime work as may be mutually agreed.

6.6 Call Outs

An employee called back to work after having completed a regular day's work, or from a regular day off, or from vacation, shall be paid at the applicable overtime premium specified in this section for a minimum of four (4) hours, or for time worked, whichever is greater.

6.7 Employees may decline overtime on a seniority basis providing there are other qualified employees available to perform the work. In such cases, the junior employees cannot decline to work overtime.

6.8 Payment of Overtime Hours

Overtime hours earned will be paid out on the following payday.

6.9 Approval of Overtime

Overtime worked must be authorized in advance by the General Manager or, in his absence, his authorized representative.

ARTICLE 7 — STATUTORY HOLIDAYS

7.1 a) The Employer agrees to provide all employees with the following Statutory Holidays, without loss of pay:

New Year's Day	Family Day	Good Friday
Easter Monday	Victoria Day	Canada Day
BC Day	Labour Day	Thanksgiving Day
Remembrance Day	Christmas Day	Boxing Day

and any other day that may be stated a legal holiday by the Provincial, Civic and/or Federal Government. Should one (1) of the above holidays fall on an employee's scheduled day(s) off, the employee shall receive an additional day or day(s) off, with pay to be taken adjacent to the employee's normal day(s) off or at a time mutually agreed between the employee and the Employer.

- b) The day off in lieu of a holiday which falls on an employee's scheduled day off must be taken within ninety (90) calendar days following the date the holiday occurred. Seniority will govern when more than the allowable number of employees request the same day off work, giving due consideration to the requirements of efficient operation of the Credit Union.
- c) In addition to the holidays stipulated in Section 1 (a) above, an employee who works on Christmas Eve shall be granted New Year's Eve off with pay. An employee who works on New Year's Eve shall be granted Christmas Eve off with pay.
- 7.2 In the event any of the holidays in Section 1 occur during the period of an employee's vacation, an additional day's vacation with pay shall be allowed for each holiday so occurring.

7.3 Holidays Falling on a Week End

If a statutory holiday falls on a week end, the Employer will advise employees beforehand regarding the week day on which the holiday is to be observed.

7.4 Statutory Holiday Pay for Part-Time Employees

a) For those part-time employees who have a regular schedule of hours and who have worked for at least fifteen (15) of the last thirty (30) calendar days preceding the holiday, payment will be calculated as if the part-time employee had worked regular hours on the day off.

- b) For those part-time employees who do not have a regular schedule of hours and who have worked at least fifteen (15) of the last thirty (30) calendar days preceding the holiday, payment will be calculated by dividing the part-time employee's total wages for the thirty (30) day period, excluding overtime, by the number of days worked.
- c) For those part-time employees who have worked less than fifteen (15) of the last thirty (30) calendar days preceding the holiday, payment will be calculated by dividing the part-time employee's total wages for the thirty (30) day period, excluding overtime, by fifteen (15).

ARTICLE 8 — ANNUAL VACATION AND SUPPLEMENTARY VACATIONS

8.1 Vacation Year Defined

- a) The vacation year shall be defined as the first working day in January to December 31st. For the year in which the employee begins work, the entitlement is from the employment date to the year-end.
- b) If an employee's employment date is between the 1st and the 15th day of a month, the employee is considered to have worked the whole month.

8.2 Vacation Escalation

All regular employees shall be entitled to a vacation in accordance with the following schedule:

- a) During the first (1st) incomplete calendar year of service an employee shall receive three (3) weeks of paid prorated vacation. Pay for such vacation shall be at the employee's current salary or at the rate of six (6%) percent of gross earnings for the period in which vacation was earned, whichever is greater. It should be noted that absence on vacation is not permitted during the probationary period.
- b) Upon entering the second (2nd) calendar year of service an employee shall receive three (3) weeks of paid vacation. Pay for such vacation shall be at the employee's current salary or at the rate of six (6%) percent of gross earnings for the period in which vacation was earned, whichever is greater.
- c) Upon entering the sixth (6th) calendar year of service an employee shall receive four (4) weeks of paid vacation. Pay for such vacation shall be at the employee's current salary or at the rate of eight (8%) percent of gross earnings for the period in which vacation was earned, whichever is greater.
- d) Upon entering the eleventh (11th) calendar year of service an employee shall receive five (5) weeks of paid vacation. Pay for such vacation shall be at the employee's current salary or at the rate of ten (10%) percent of gross earnings for the period in which vacation was earned, whichever is greater.
- e) Upon entering the sixteenth (16th) calendar year of service an employee shall receive six (6) weeks of paid vacation. Pay for such vacation shall be at the employee's current salary or at the rate of twelve (12%) percent of gross earnings for the period in which vacation was earned, whichever is greater.
- f) Upon entering the twenty-fifth (25th) calendar year of service an employee shall receive seven (7) weeks of paid vacation. Pay for such vacation shall be at the employee's current salary or at fourteen (14%) percent of gross earnings for the period in which vacation was earned, whichever is greater.

g) Employees hired prior to January 1, 2015 who have more paid weeks of vacation than outlined in (a) through (f) shall be held at that level until they reach the next level of required years' of service to move to the next level of vacation entitlement.

8.3 Scheduling of Vacation

a) Entitlement

Other than in the first incomplete calendar year, as of January 1st, each employee shall have one (1) full calendar year's entitlement available to take any time within that calendar year.

b) Minimums

Vacation periods are a minimum of one (1) full week or multiples of a full week. For the purposes of this Article, a week is considered to be the normal business week in operation at the Branch.

c) Broken week

Employees may, at their option, take one week of their vacation entitlement in individual days off. Scheduling of these days will be subject to operational needs. Additional broken vacation may be granted for exceptional circumstances and will be subject to operational needs and management approval.

d) Selection

Regular employees shall select their vacation periods in order of the employee's service date. However, only one (1) vacation period shall be selected until all employees in the signing group have had the opportunity to select one (1) vacation period. Subsequently, those employees who have chosen to take their vacations in separate periods shall select the second and subsequent periods in order of service date. Employees who select vacation time during the time period of January 1st to February 15th will not have the vacation period counted or considered as his/her first selection; however service date will still apply.

e) Summer Restrictions

Employees shall only be entitled to take two (2) weeks during the period July 1st to August 31st. An employee may apply for longer periods and if qualified employees are available to replace the employee and if operational requirements are satisfied, such further vacation time off will be allowed with date of service applying.

f) Deadlines

The Employer will post a vacation schedule by no later than January 15th of each year and the employees shall select all their vacation periods by February 1st. All vacations so selected by this time shall be confirmed by the Employer by no later than February 15th.

g) Late Applications and Changes

Clause (f) above shall not be so construed to imply that vacation not selected by February 1st is to be disallowed; however, such time shall be scheduled subject to operational requirements. Further, it shall not be construed to imply that vacation selected by February 1st cannot be amended at a later date; however such amendments shall be subject to operational needs.

h) Loss of Privileges

If an employee does not book vacation by February 1st, service privileges will not apply.

i) Operational Needs

Notwithstanding service privileges, all vacation approval will take operational needs into consideration.

8.4 Banked Vacation

- a) Employees shall be permitted to bank five (5) days of vacation. May 1/15
- b) Any banked vacation time must be taken at a time mutually agreeable to the employee and the Employer.

8.5 Vacation Pay at Termination of Employment

- a) Should an employee's services become terminated, the employee shall reimburse the Employer for any overpayments he/she may have received for vacation provided by this Article.
- b) Should an employee's services become terminated, the Employer shall payout any previously earned unused vacation days.
- c) Vacation pay owing, either to the Employer or the employee, will be calculated at the appropriate percentages shown in Article 8, Section 2 above and the adjustment will be shown on the final pay.

8.6 Required Vacations

All employees must take an annual vacation. Employees may not carry accumulated vacations over from one year to the next, except during the probationary period, where an employee is not able to take earned vacation, or as described in Article 8.4 above.

8.7 Vacation Entitlement and Pay for Regular Part-Time, Casual and Temporary Employees

- a) Regular part-time and temporary employees shall earn vacation entitlement in the same manner as regular full-time employees. Regular part-time employees will make their vacation selections at the same time as regular full-time employees in order of service date. Temporary employees can make vacation selections only once the vacation selections have been finalized for regular employees and will be based on operational needs and availability.
- b) Pay: Part-time, casual and temporary employees will be paid the appropriate percentage of vacation pay on each pay cheque, based on gross earnings over that period.

8.8 Vacation Rescheduling

- a) Subject to staffing requirements, vacations scheduled for at least one (1) week in duration may be rescheduled for the following reasons:
 - i. Disability or illness occurs before the employee's vacation commences.
 - ii. Serious disability or illness, certified by a doctor, occurs after commencement of vacation.
 - iii. Death of a family member.

8.9 Vacation Pay while on Unpaid Leaves of Absence

In instances where an employee is entitled to earn vacation days during an unpaid leave of absence which is in excess of thirty (30) calendar days, such days shall be unpaid.

ARTICLE 9 — LEAVE OF ABSENCE

9.1 Union Business

- a) Leave of absence without pay may be granted to employees for the purpose of attending to Union business with the approval of the Employer or his/her authorized Representative. The Union will request such leave by giving the Employer at least two (2) weeks' notice.
- b) To facilitate administration of this Article and Articles 3.1 (c) and 3.1 (d), when a leave of absence is granted, the Employer will continue the employee's straight-time hourly compensation for his or her regularly scheduled shifts that would have been worked had it not been for the leave. The Union shall, without unreasonable delay, reimburse the Employer for all wages and benefits associated with the leave. An employee granted leave under this Article shall be covered by the applicable provisions of Article 10 and shall otherwise be kept "whole" with respect to seniority, service and vacation accrual and the right to apply for job postings as well as any other "benefit" that may be mandated by Provincial labour law inclusive of the Employment Standards Act as amended.

9.2 Bereavement Leave

In the case of death of a family member, regular employees shall be granted leave of absence without loss of pay as follows:

- a) Five (5) days in the case of immediate family, defined as spouse, common law spouse, child, step-child, parent, step-parent, sibling, step-sibling, grandchild, step-grandchild, grandparent and step-grandparent.
- b) Three (3) days in the case of a spouse's family, defined as parents-in-law, siblings-in-law and grandparents-in-law.
- c) The day of a funeral for extended family, defined as aunt, uncle, cousin, niece and nephew.

9.3 Jury Duty

- a) An employee summoned to Jury Duty or subpoenaed as a court witness shall be paid wages amounting to the difference between the amount paid to them for jury service and the amount they would have earned, had they worked on such days. This shall not apply in circumstances where the employee is named as a litigant.
- b) Employees summoned as a witness on behalf of the Employer shall be entitled to wages at straight time rates for hour spent as a witness on behalf of the Employer on their own normal days off.
- c) Employees on Jury Duty shall furnish the Employer with such statements of earnings as the Courts may supply.

- d) Employees shall return to work within a reasonable period of time. They shall not be required to report if less than two (2) hours of their normal shift remains to be worked.
- e) Total hours on Jury Duty and actual work on the job in the office in one (1) day shall not exceed normal working hours for purposes of establishing the basic work day. Any time worked in the office in excess of the combined total of seven (7) hours, shall be considered overtime and paid as such.
- f) This is not to be construed as to require overtime pay where Jury Duty exceeds the normal hours before or after a normal work day.

9.4 Pregnancy/Parental/Adoption Leave

- a) Leave of absence in case of pregnancy/parental/adoption leave shall be granted in accordance with Employment Standards Act. Such leave will not affect sick leave entitlement or seniority. All pregnancy/parental/adoption leave requests shall be in writing and show the last day to be worked and the expected date of return to work.
- b) A regular employee, returning to work after being on pregnancy/parental/adoption leave shall return to his or her former position or to a comparable position.

9.5 Special Leave without Pay

- a) Upon written application, and when the requirements of the Employer's service will permit, an employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay for a period of up to sixty (60) calendar days. Under such leaves, the employee shall retain and continue to accrue seniority.
- b) Such leaves may be extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the Employer.
- c) Employees may continue to be covered under the benefits plans during the periods outlined in sections a) and b) provided they pay the monthly premiums in advance.

9.6 Maintenance of Position

- a) An employee returning to work after being on a short term or long term disability leave for a period of up to two (2) years will return to her/his former position or to a comparable position.
- b) Notwithstanding (a) above, the Parties recognize that an employee cleared to return to work after a disability leave may have limitations and/or restrictions which may limit the employee's ability to return to his/her former position or to a comparable position. In such cases, the employee, Union and Employer will meet under the legal requirement of "Duty to Accommodate" to discuss any potential accommodations. It is understood the discussion may include, but is not limited to, wage rate associated with the accommodated position.

9.7 Personal Days

- a) All regular employees are entitled to four (4) paid personal days each year.
- b) Personal days are to be earned and taken at the rate of one (1) day per quarter.
- c) Personal days cannot be appended to vacation days.
- d) Personal days must be booked and approved in advance.
- e) There will be no carryover of personal days from year to year.
- f) For the purpose of this Article, any day or partial day taken as a personal day shall be considered to be one (1) day used.

ARTICLE 10 BENEFITS AND SICK LEAVE

10.1 Eligibility for Benefits

- a) Regular full-time employees shall become eligible for coverage under the Employer's benefit plans upon the first day of the month immediately following the completion of the probationary period.
- b) Regular part time employees working an average shift of at least sixty (60) hours per month shall become eligible for coverage under the Employer's benefit plans upon the first day of the month immediately following completion of the probationary period.

10.2 Benefit Plans

Details of the plans are contained in brochures provided by the Employer.

- a) Medical Services Plan of British Columbia.
- b) Extended Health Benefit Plan eyewear coverage to \$150.00 each 24 months.
- c) Dental Plan, basic 75%; reconstructive 75%, orthodontics 50% to maximum of \$2000.00.
- d) Group Life Insurance.
- e) Accidental Death & Dismemberment Plan.
- f) Optional Life Insurance.
- g) Short Term Disability, 15 weeks
- h) Long Term Disability
- i) Employee & Family Assistance Program

10.3 Premium Costs

- a) With the exception of the Medical Services Plan of British Columbia and Optional Life Insurance, the premium costs for all benefits are paid by the Employer.
- b) Optional Life Insurance premiums are paid 100% by the employee.
- c) The cost of the Medical Services Plan of British Columbia is shared, 50/50, by the employee and the Employer.
- d) Effective January 1, 2017, the cost of the Medical services Plan of British Columbia will be paid 100% by the Employer.

10.4 Short and Long Term Disability Leave

Eligible regular employees who are unable to work because of illness shall receive pay on the following basis:

- a) During the fourteen (14) calendar days waiting period to become eligible for salary insurance, employees may draw upon any accumulated incidental sick leave days described in Section 10.5, below.
- b) Upon becoming eligible for salary insurance, an employee will receive salary from the insurance plan for the duration of illness in accordance with the provisions of the plans.
- c) It is the responsibility of the employee to complete and file the necessary application form to receive payment. These forms will be provided to the employee by the Employer.

10.5 Incidental Sick Leave

- a) All regular employees on the payroll as of January 1st of each year will be given credit for twelve (12) days for that year. New employees starting during the year shall receive a prorated portion calculated at one (1) day per month to a maximum of twelve (12) days.
- b) New employees shall not be covered during their probation period, but upon completion of their probationary period they will be reimbursed for any lost wages due to illness, up to that year's maximum entitlement.
- c) Part-time regular employees will only be paid an incidental sick leave day if the employee is absent on a day actually scheduled for work.
- d) It is understood that employees granted twelve (12) days credit on January 1st of each year are actually earning those days at one (1) day per month. Upon termination of employment an employee having used more sick days than earned shall be required to reimburse the Employer from his/her final pay.
- e) Employees are permitted to carry forward a maximum of ten (10) days incidental sick leave into the next calendar year. However, upon termination of employment, incidental sick days have no monetary value.
- f) The employee, upon request by the Employer, shall provide proof of illness which involves paid leave of more than three (3) consecutive working days.
- g) Employees are permitted to access the Incidental Sick Leave bank in increments of not less than one-half day to cover Family Responsibility Leave as described in the Employment Standards Act on June 3, 2015.
- h) Employees are permitted to access the Incidental Sick Leave bank in increments of not less than one hour for medical and dental appointments.

10.6 RRSP

a) Eligibility

i. All regular employees become eligible to participate in the RRSP plan after one (1) year of continuous employment.

b) Contributions

- i. Employee Contribution
 At the time an employee becomes eligible to participate, an employee must contribute five (5%) percent of gross earnings to the RRSP program.
- ii. Employer Contributions

Once an employee is eligible to participate in the RRSP plan, the Employer will make contributions as follows:

- 1. Effective January 1, 2015 the Employer will contribute five and a half (5.5%) percent to each employee's RRSP.
- 2. Effective January 1, 2016 the Employer will contribute six (6.0%) percent to each employee's RRSP.
- 3. Effective January 1, 2017 the Employer will contribute seven (7.0%) percent to each employee's RRSP.
- iii. Contributions to the Plan will be effected through payroll deduction each pay period and will be deposited into the employee's individual variable rate RRSP account at VP Credit Union.
- iv. The employee shall be at liberty to invest in the various options offered by VP Credit Union in its Registered Retirement Savings Plan Portfolio.

c) Withdrawals

Funds deposited to the employee's RRSP are not available for withdrawal unless the employee can demonstrate to the Employer's satisfaction that critical circumstances beyond the control of the employee warrant a withdrawal. Exceptions to the above withdrawal restriction are the Home Buyer's Plan.

ARTICLE 11 — SALARY POLICY

11.1 Employees shall be paid in accordance with the salary schedule for their positions as specified in Appendix "A" which is part of this Agreement. The steps in the salary ranges are the minimum amounts to be paid to an employee in accordance with Section 5 of this Article and shall not be construed to mean an employee may not be advanced to the next step in his/her salary range before having the required service.

11.2 Job Descriptions

Are written with the intent to set forth the general duties and requirements of the job and to indicate the level of skill required and shall not be construed as imposing any restrictions on the right of the Employer to create a new job or to assign duties to employees other than those specifically mentioned in job descriptions.

11.3 When a new position is established or the duties of an existing position are significantly changed, the Employer shall set an interim salary and category for such position and notify the Union. The Union may, at its discretion, negotiate with the Employer, the salary and category and if agreement cannot be reached, the matter may be referred to Article 21 – Arbitration in this Agreement.

Job postings must be consistent with the established job descriptions.

11.4 Promotional Increases

Upon promotion, an employee will be paid at a step in the higher salary range which will ensure a minimum of three (3%) increase provided the application of this percentage does not exceed the maximum pay for the range in which the new job exists.

11.5 Salary Progression

- a) New Hires
 - i.Upon hire, an employee will be placed upon a step in the salary range commensurate with the position and the knowledge, skills and abilities of the newly hired employee.
 - ii.Upon successful completion of the ninety (90) calendar day probationary period, such employee will be moved to the next step in the salary range.
 - iii.Thereafter, such employee will, upon his/her service date, move up one step in the range annually until the maximum step is reached.

b) Progression Upon Promotion

- i.Upon promotion, an employee will be placed on a step in the appropriate range in the manner described in 11.4, above.
- ii.Upon completion of ninety (90) calendar days in the new position, such employee will be moved to the next step in the salary range.
- iii.Thereafter, such employee will, upon the anniversary date of the promotion, move up one step annually until the maximum step is reached.

11.6 Progression Withheld

- a) Notwithstanding 11.5, above, advancement from one salary step to another may be withheld due to inadequate performance under the following circumstances:
 - i. The employee has been counselled regarding inadequate performance following his/her last job service salary increase, and
 - ii. Notice of intent to withhold the next service salary increase is given to the employee and the Union one month prior to the date such increase is due.
- b) When employees restore their performance, they shall be advanced to the next step in their salary range on a non-retroactive basis.

11.7 Salary Policy on Recalls and Demotions

- a) Employees recalled to their former position or to a position having the same salary range shall receive the current rate for the step in the salary range which they held at the time of layoff.
- b) Employees recalled who accept a position in a salary range which is lower than for their former position, shall be paid at a step in the salary range commensurate with their service at layoff.
- c) An employee who transfers to a position in a lower salary range for reasons ascribable to the employee shall be paid a salary in accordance with paragraph (b) above.
- 11.8 Employees who, for reasons set out in Article 17, are placed in a position having a lower salary range than for their former position shall retain their salary. If their salary is higher than the range for the position they shall be red circled until such time as the difference between the maximum for the range and their salary is removed.

11.9 Pay for Temporary Duties and Cross Training

- a) An employee assigned to a higher job classification or temporarily replacing another employee in such higher classification shall be paid at the higher rate as determined by Section 4 above for the period so employed.
- b) This provision shall not apply for relief periods of less than five (5) consecutive days.
- c) Where employees temporarily assume additional responsibilities without an actual change in classification, the Union and the Employer shall meet to decide if the added responsibilities are sufficient to change the job level and, if so, set a new salary level.

ARTICLE 12 - JOB POSTING

- 12.1 a) Notice of all job vacancies within the bargaining unit shall be posted on a bulletin board on the Employer's premises for at least five (5) working days. The notice shall indicate job title, category, hours of work, salary, and a brief outline of the duties involved. A copy of the notice shall be sent to the Union.
 - b) An employee may bid on vacant positions which may involve a promotion, lateral transfer, or a lower classification.
- **12.2** a) All bids on posted job vacancies shall be in writing.
 - b) Bids provided by employees via the internet will be accepted for consideration by the Employer.

12.3 Selection

- a) Selections for job vacancies shall be made on the basis of qualifications, skills and ability to do the job, and seniority, in that order. In the event two (2) or more employees have similar abilities, the employee with the greatest seniority shall be selected.
- b) It is the responsibility of each employee to make known to the Employer new skills and training as it is acquired.

12.4 Cross Training

- a) The Employer agrees to apply cross-training as needed for job coverage and promotion in accordance with the criteria set out in Article 12.3.
- b) While training and cross-training is being done, the trainer will be present.

12.5 Staff Development and Training

The parties agree that all employees be properly trained in their duties pertaining to their employment. Employees will be eligible to receive training that is offered. The Employer will pay all costs associated with the training including instructional time at straight time rates, course materials, and mileage.

12.6 Career Development

Employees may request approval, through an application to the Employer, to take other work related courses. Where such a course is approved by the Employer, the Employer will pay for the course.

12.7 Mutual Funds

The Employer will pay all costs in accordance with Employer policy for a Mutual Funds course for employees who are required to obtain a Mutual Funds license. When ongoing training is required to remain in compliance with licensing requirements, the Employer will pay all costs associated with this training in accordance with Employer policy.

12.8 Lateral Transfers

- a) The Parties agree that employees who accept a lateral transfer will not be required to complete courses required for the position to which the employee is transferring, provided the employee is transferring to an identical position, in the same group, at the new location.
- b) An employee who is successful to a posting for a temporary position must occupy that specific temporary position for no less than ninety (90) calendar days before being eligible to post into another temporary position.

ARTICLE 13 LAYOFF AND RECALL

13.1 Bumping Rights

- a) Should the Employer decide to reduce the number of office staff, the employee with the least amount of seniority in a position shall be the first laid off from that position.
- b) The employee may displace another employee in a position at the same or lower job level providing he/she has the qualifications to perform the job functions satisfactorily and has greater seniority than the employee to be displaced.
- c) Employees can bump into a position where they can perform the job with up to seventy (70) hours of familiarization and/or training.
- d) Employees will notify the employer of the position they intend to bump within three (3) business days of receiving their lay-off notice.

13.2 Notice Period

Notice of layoff or salary in lieu of notice shall be given to any affected regular employee in accordance with the Employment Standards Act of British Columbia.

13.3 Recall List

A regular employee with six (6) months or more service that is laid off due to lack of work or redundancy may elect to be placed on a Recall List for a period of twelve (12) months. Upon expiration of the recall period, the employee shall receive severance pay as provided in Article 17.5.

13.4 Recall

- a) Employees on the recall list shall have the right to return to a vacancy in their former position or to a position for which they are qualified providing no other employee with greater seniority is promoted or transferred to such vacant position. When such transfers or promotions occur, resulting in a vacant position, the employee on the recall list will be offered the resulting vacant position providing she/she is qualified.
- b) An employee on the recall list who is offered a permanent vacant position, whether parttime or full-time, for which he/she is qualified and refuses such position, will be deemed to have resigned from employment and in doing so will forfeit all seniority rights under this agreement and the Employer shall have no further obligations to that employee in the future.

13.5 Notice of Recall

- a) Notice of recall to an employee on the recall list shall be sent by registered mail to the employee's last known address. It is the obligation of the employee to ensure that the Employer has his/her current contact information for the purposes of being contacted during the recall period. The Employer will not be held responsible for informing the employee of recall opportunities if the information provided by the employee is not kept current.
- b) An employee on the recall list may be bypassed when the employee fails to respond to the notice within three (3) calendar days of receiving it, however, an employee who is prevented from responding to a recall notice because of illness or other reason beyond the employee's control shall not lose such rights thereby, but such employee may be bypassed for the position available.
- c) An employee bypassed as provided above will remain on the recall list for the remaining recall period.
- 13.6 It is the obligation of the employee to ensure that the Employer has his/her current contact information for the purposes of being contacted during the recall period. The Employer will not be held responsible for informing the employee of recall opportunities if the information provided by the employee is not kept current.

ARTICLE 14 — SENIORITY

- **14.1** Seniority shall mean length of continuous service, with the Employer and its predecessors.
- 14.2 Upon completion of the probationary period, employees shall be entitled to all rights and privileges of this Agreement and the employee's seniority shall be effective from the original date of employment.
- 14.3 An employee who leaves the bargaining unit to fill a temporary position excluded from the unit, and who subsequently returns to the bargaining unit within one (1) year, shall be credited with seniority held at the date of leaving the bargaining unit.
- 14.4 No seniority shall accrue for short terms of temporary work except where a temporary or casual employee becomes a regular employee without a break in service. In such cases seniority shall start from the last date the employee started as a temporary or casual employee assuming the employee has satisfied the probation period. Employees on the recall list who return to work on a temporary basis during their recall period shall have their recall rights extended by one (1) day for each day or part thereof worked.
- 14.5 An employee laid-off and placed on the recall list under Article 13, Section 3, will retain and continue to accumulate seniority during the period of lay-off.
- **14.6** An employee on approved leave of absence for the following reasons will continue to accrue seniority:

Union Business — Article 9, Section 1
Special Leave Without Pay — Article 9, Section 5

Pregnancy/Parental/Adoption Leave – Article 9, Section 4

Sick Leave — Article 10

- 14.7 Regular employees shall accrue seniority on the basis of one (1) day for each day of accrued service, including statutory holidays and vacations.
- **14.8** Seniority lists will be made available by the Employer to the Union at such times as may be required for the administration of this Agreement.
- 14.9 A full-time regular employee, bumping into a part-time position as a result of a lay-off as outlined in Article 13 or technological change as outlined in Article 17, shall retain their right of recall as outlined in Article 13, Section 4.

14.10 Seniority Lists The Employer shall post seniority lists quarterly for the employees.	
The Employer shall post seniority lists quarterly for the employees.	

ARTICLE 15 — GENERAL PROVISIONS

15.1 Bulletin Board

Space shall be made available to the Union for the purpose of posting notices relating to meetings, dues, entertainment, health and safety and general union information and activities.

15.2 No Strikes or Lockouts

The Employer shall not cause or direct any lockout of employees during the life of this Agreement and neither the Union nor any representative thereof, nor any employee shall in any way authorize, encourage or participate in any strike, walk-out, suspension of work, or slow down on the part of any employee or group of employees during the life of this Agreement.

15.3 Disciplinary Action

- (a) Should it become necessary for management to discuss with an employee a matter which could result in disciplinary action being taken, such discussion will be conducted in private. A bargaining unit Union Job Steward, or an alternate as appointed may be present. Employees choosing to waive the presence of a Job Steward must do so in writing.
- (b) Upon request of the employee, the substance of the Employer's complaint shall be given to the employee in writing at the time the discussion takes place.
- (c) The written or verbal advance notice of the meeting will be provided to the employee and to the Job Steward at the same time.
- (d) When an employee is issued a letter of discipline, the Job Steward and the Union will be provided with a copy of the letter at the time it is issued.
- (e) Letters or details related to complaints, reprimands or discipline involving an employee which are more than eighteen (18) months old shall not be considered in any assessment of the employee's record and shall thereafter be removed at the request of the employee from the employee's personnel file, provided there has not been a further infraction.

15.4 Picket Lines

It shall not be a violation of this Agreement or cause for discipline or discharge of any employee, in the performance of his/her duties, to refuse to cross a legal picket line. The Union shall notify the Employer as soon as possible of the existence of such picket line.

15.5 Banking Privileges

- a) The Employer will waive service charges for regular employees for the following products and/services:
 - i. Chequing, Silver Shield and Savings Accounts
 - ii. Mortgage Renewals

- iii. Canadian and US Bank Drafts
- iv. Wire Transfers
- v. Safety Deposit Boxes (small, one box per employee)
- vi. Debit Transactions
- b) Regular employees will be entitled to purchase US currency at that date's Central 1 Credit Union 'sell' rate, to a maximum of twenty-five (\$2500) hundred dollars in any calendar year.
- c) Notwithstanding the above, employees are responsible for the payment of fees charged to the Employer by third parties for any banking services accessed.

15.6 Car Mileage Allowance

Where an employee is requested by the Credit Union to use his/her car on Credit Union business, he/she shall be compensated for mileage at the rate of fifty-five cents (\$0.55) per kilometre driven.

- **15.7** Employees shall not be asked to make any written or verbal contracts which may conflict with this Agreement.
- 15.8 The Employer shall supply the employee with a copy of any written warning or adverse report affecting the employee. Any reply by the employee shall become part of the employee's record. Upon giving reasonable notice, employees shall be entitled to review their own personnel files under supervision.

15.9 Exclusivity of Bargaining Unit Work

Managers or other employees outside the bargaining unit shall not perform the duties normally, customarily, or properly performed by employees within the bargaining unit, except in cases of emergency, when bargaining unit members who can perform the required work are not available or when managers or other persons outside the bargaining unit are training employees in the bargaining unit. Normal work customarily performed by management shall be excluded.

15.10 Occupational Health and Safety

The Union and Employer shall co-operate in promoting and improving rules and practices which promote an occupational environment, which improves conditions and provides protection from factors adverse to employee health and safety.

There shall be no discrimination, no penalty, no intimidation and no coercion when employees comply with this Health and Safety Article.

15.11 Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committee

a) A joint Union-Employer Committee shall be established. It shall be composed of two (2) representatives named by the Union and two (2) representatives named by the Employer. One (1) representative from each side shall serve as co-chairs. The employer will provide

- the committee with a person to be the Recording Secretary. The Recording Secretary will be responsible for the minutes and will not have a voice or a vote on the Committee.
- b) The Health and Safety Committee shall meet regularly, at least once each month. In addition, the Committee shall hold meetings upon mutual agreement of the Union and the Employer to deal with unsafe, hazardous or dangerous conditions. Meetings shall be scheduled during normal hours of operation. Representatives of the Union shall suffer no loss of pay for attending such meetings, job site inspections or accident/incident investigations.
- c) Minutes of all Health and Safety Committee meetings shall be kept and copies of such minutes shall be sent to the Employer, the Union and the Workers Compensation Board and a copy shall be posted on the Union Bulletin Board. All recommendations and requests from the Joint Health and Safety Committee shall be followed up by the co-chairs, who shall report thereon to the Committee.

15.12 Industrial First Aid Requirement and Courses

Where the Employer requires an employee to perform first aid duties, in addition to the normal requirement of the job, the cost of obtaining and renewing the Level 1 First Aid Certificate shall be borne by the Employer and leave of absence to take the necessary course(s) shall be granted with pay.

ARTICLE 16 - DISCHARGE, TERMINATION AND SUSPENSION

- 16.1 a) It is hereby agreed that the Employer has the right to discharge, suspend, or otherwise discipline an employee for just and reasonable cause.
 - b) The Union may refer suspension grievances in excess of five (5) days and discharge grievances directly to Step 3(b) of the Grievance procedure.

16.2 Severance and Notice

If a regular employee is terminated except as provided in Section 1 above, said employee shall receive two (2) weeks' written notice immediately prior to the date of termination, or the equivalent in wages. If notice is given immediately prior to the vacation period of any employee, such employee shall receive two (2) weeks' wages, at the employee's current salary, in addition to vacation pay to which the employee is entitled, plus all other benefits including severance pay as provided in Article 17.5.

- 16.3 If, upon investigation by the Union and the Employer, or by decision of an arbitration pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, it shall be found that an employee has been unjustly discharged or suspended, the affected employee shall be, subject to the award of such arbitration or pursuant to the mutual findings of the Union and the Employer, re-instated to his/her former position without any loss of seniority or rank.
 - Compensation for lost salary shall be as mutually agreed between the Employer and the Union or as decided by arbitration.
- **16.4** Employees are expected to provide the Employer with two (2) weeks' notice of intention to terminate in order to provide adequate time to obtain a replacement.

ARTICLE 17 — TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE AND SEVERANCE PAY

- 17.1 The Employer will provide the Union with not less than three (3) months' notice of intention to introduce automation, equipment or changes in administrative procedures which might result in the reduction of personnel and/or changes in job duties sufficient to change job groupings.
- 17.2 Wherever practical, an employee becoming redundant due to new equipment or procedures shall be eligible for retraining to qualify for the operation of such new equipment or procedure, or to qualify for new positions. Such retraining shall be provided by the Employer without cost and without loss of pay to the affected employee.
- 17.3 In cases where the retraining of an employee is not practical, the employee shall elect:
 - a) to exercise their bumping rights in accordance with Article 13.1;
 - b) to be placed on the recall list in accordance with Article 13.3;
 - c) to terminate employment with entitlement to severance pay as per Article 17.5.
- 17.4 Severance pay as provided for in Section 5, shall be due and payable immediately upon termination to an employee who elects for termination of employment pursuant to Section 3.

17.5 Severance Pay

Severance pay shall be paid to employees on the basis of two (2) weeks' severance pay at the employee's regular salary for every completed year of service, to a maximum of ten (10) weeks. An employee who chooses to be laid-off and placed on the recall list may elect:

- a) To terminate during recall period and be paid his/her severance entitlement upon termination.
- b) To remain on the recall list and be paid severance pay entitlement upon the expiration of the recall period, should they not be recalled.

ARTICLE 18 — GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- **18.1** Grievance means any difference or dispute concerning the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of this Collective Agreement, whether between the Employer and any employee or employees bound by the Collective Agreement or between the Employer and the Union.
- **18.2** Grievances shall be settled in the following manner:
 - a) If the employee has a grievance against the Employer, the procedure for settlement shall commence with Step 1.
 - b) If the Employer or the Union has a grievance, the procedure for settlement shall commence with Step 3.

STEP ONE

- a) The Employee involved shall first take up the grievance with the management person designated by the Employer within ten (10) working days of the circumstances giving rise to the grievance.
- b) The employee may be accompanied by a Job Steward or representative of the Union. The Employer shall give a decision within ten (10) working days of such meeting.

STEP TWO

If the grievance is not resolved at Step one, the matter shall be reduced to writing by the grievor and/or the Union and submitted to the management person designated by the Employer within ten (10) working days following the decision rendered at Step One.

STEP THREE (a)

The representative of the Union and a representative of the Employer, along with the grievor, shall meet within ten (10) days of receipt of the grievance as submitted under Step Two. Failing settlement within ten (10) working days of receipt of notice, either Party may refer the grievance to Alternate Dispute Resolution and/or Arbitration as set forth in Articles 19 and 20.

STEP THREE (b)

In the event a grievance is initiated by the Employer or the Union, the initiating Party shall notify the other Party in writing of the nature of the grievance and such notice shall be given within ten (10) working days of the circumstances giving rise to the grievance unless the Parties agree to an extension of time. Failing settlement within ten (10) working days of receipt of notice, either Party may refer the grievance to Alternate Dispute Resolution and/or Arbitration as set forth in Articles 19 and 20.

STEP FOUR

In the event the matter remains outstanding after full utilization of either Step 3 (a) or Step 3 (b), the Party wishing to proceed to arbitration must, within ten (10) working days, notify the other Party that they are proceeding to arbitration. This shall be done in writing.

18.3 The time limits set forth in this Article may be extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the Employer.

ARTICLE 19 - ALTERNATE DISPUTE RESOLUTION

- 19.1 At the conclusion of the discussions pursuant to the grievance procedure set out above, should a grievance remain unresolved, the Parties may mutually agree to discuss a grievance through the Alternate Dispute Resolution Process as set out below.
 - a) The purpose of Alternate Dispute Resolution is in keeping with the wish of the Parties to resolve grievances as quickly as possible following the formal grievance procedure but prior to arbitration pursuant to Article 20 Arbitration.
 - b) Should the Parties seek a third party "non-binding option", the Parties agree to exchange a brief written statement, including the following:
 - i. A summary of the grievance
 - ii. The alleged violation of the Collective Agreement, and
 - iii. The remedies sought
 - c) Such written statement will be referred to a mutually agreed upon Mediator for mediation and a non-binding recommendation to settle the grievance.
 - d) The Parties may provide to the Mediator above, an agreed statement of facts.
 - e) The Mediator's recommendations will be issued within two (2) weeks of the mediation.
 - f) The Mediator's recommendations will be privileged and will not be referred to at any time for any purpose.
 - g) The Mediator's recommendation will be without prejudice and will have non-precedential value in any other proceeding.
 - h) The Parties acknowledge that the credibility of the process depends upon both recognizing that this is a problem solving and dispute resolution process rather than an adjudicated process.
 - i) The cost of the Mediator's intervention will be shared equally by the Parties.
 - j) The continued credibility of the process depends upon both Parties recognizing the scope of this alternate dispute resolution process.

ARTICLE 20 - ARBITRATION

20.1 Referring to Arbitration

If a difference arises between the parties relating to the dismissal or discipline of an employee, or to the interpretation, application, operation or alleged violation of this agreement, including a question as to whether a matter is arbitrable, either of the parties, without stoppage of work, may, after exhausting the grievance procedure established by this agreement, notify the other party in writing of its desire to submit the difference to arbitration and the parties must agree on a single arbitrator. The arbitrator must hear and determine the issue and render a decision, which is final and binding on the parties and any person affected by it.

20.2 Selecting an Arbitrator

- a) The Parties will mutually agree upon an arbitrator within ten (10) working days of the grievance being advanced to arbitration as per Article 18.2 of the Collective Agreement.
- b) Failing mutual agreement on an arbitrator willing to act as per section (a) above, either Party may apply to the Collective Agreement Arbitration Bureau for the Province of British Columbia to appoint an arbitrator.
- **20.3** The Arbitrator shall not be vested with the power to change, modify or alter any of the terms of this Agreement.
- **20.4** Each Party shall pay their own costs and expenses of the Arbitration and one-half (1/2) the remuneration and expenses of the Arbitrator.

ARTICLE 21 - DURATION

- 21.1 This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from and including November 17, 2014 to and including December 31, 2017, a three (3) year term, and shall continue in full force and effect from year to year thereafter subject to the right of either Party to this Agreement within four (4) months immediately preceding the expiration, or immediately preceding January 1st, in any subsequent year, by written notice to the other Party, to require the other Party to commence collective bargaining with a view to the conclusion of a renewal or revision of the Collective Agreement, or a new Collective Agreement.
- 21.2 The parties agree to the exclusion of Section 50(2) and (3) of the British Columbia Labour Relations Code.

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF:

VP CREDIT UNION:	MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378):
Larry Hill, General Manager	Barry Hodson, Union Rep
Tina Whitelaw, Mgr Finance & Admin	Vladimir Seslija, Steward
Neal Tyldsley, Board Chair, VPCU	David Black, President
Norma E. Cannon, Negotiator	
DATE:	DATE:

APPENDIX "A" JOB TITLES AND CLASSIFICATIONS

GROUP I	Teller Student
GROUP II	Member Service Representative
GROUP III	Senior Member Service Representative Administration Officer Loans Clerk-Receptionist
GROUP IV	Loans Officer I
GROUP V	Loans Officer II
GROUP VI	Senior Loans Officer

APPENDIX "B" WAGE SCALE

New Grid including January 1, 2015 2% General Wage Increase

				January	201	5 w/ 2.00% l	ncr	ease			
			Ste	ep One	Ste	p Two	Ste	ep Three	Ste	Step Four	
	STA	ART	3 [Months	12	Months	24	Months	36 Months		
GROUP 1											
Annual	\$	29,702.40	\$	30,649.16	\$	31,633.06	\$	32,635.51	\$	33,675.10	
Monthly	\$	2,475.20	\$	2,554.10	\$	2,636.09	\$	2,719.63	\$	2,806.26	
Bi-weekly	\$	1,142.40	\$	1,178.81	\$	1,216.66	\$	1,255.21	\$	1,295.20	
Hourly	\$	16.32	\$	16.84	\$	17.38	\$	17.93	\$	18.50	
GROUP 2											
Annual	\$	38,668.81	\$	40,896.49	\$	43,254.12	\$	45,741.70	\$	48,377.78	
Monthly	\$	3,222.40	\$	•		3,604.51	\$	3,811.81	\$	4,031.48	
Bi-weekly	\$	1,487.26	\$	1,572.94	\$	1,663.62	\$	1,759.30	\$	1,860.68	
Hourly	\$	21.25	\$	22.47	\$	23.77	\$	25.13	\$	26.58	
GROUP 3											
Annual	\$	46,966.92	\$	47,913.68	\$	48,860.45	\$	49,825.78	\$	50,827.93	
Monthly	\$	3,913.91	\$	3,992.81	\$	4,071.70	\$	4,152.15	\$	4,235.66	
Bi-weekly	\$	1,806.42	\$	1,842.83	\$	1,879.25	\$	1,916.38	\$	1,954.92	
Hourly	\$	25.81	\$	26.33	\$	26.85	\$	27.38	\$	27.93	
GROUP 4											
Annual	\$	49,343.11	\$	50,327.00	\$	51,329.46	\$	52,350.48	\$	53,390.06	
Monthly	\$	4,111.93	\$	4,193.92	\$	4,277.46	\$	4,362.54	\$	4,449.17	
Bi-weekly	\$	1,897.81	\$	1,935.65	\$	1,974.21	\$	2,013.48	\$	2,053.46	
Hourly	\$	27.11	\$	27.65	\$	28.20	\$	28.76	\$	29.34	
GROUP 5											
Annual	\$	51,607.92	\$	53,278.68	\$	55,005.13	\$	56,787.28	\$	58,643.68	
Monthly	\$	4,300.66	_	4,439.89	-	4,583.76	-	4,732.27			
Bi-weekly	\$	1,984.92	\$			2,115.58					
Hourly	\$	28.36	\$	29.27	\$	30.22	\$	31.20	\$	32.22	
GROUP 6											
Annual	\$	56,935.79	\$	58,643.68	\$	60,407.26	\$	62,226.53	\$	64,120.06	
Monthly	\$	4,744.65	\$	4,886.97	\$	5,033.94	\$	5,185.54	\$		
Bi-weekly	\$	2,189.84	\$	2,255.53	\$	2,323.36	\$	2,393.33	\$		
Hourly	\$	31.28	\$	32.22	\$	33.19	\$	34.19	\$		

Collective Agreement – VP Credit Union and MoveUP (Canadian Office & Professional Employees Union, Local 378) Term: November 17, 2014 to December 31, 2017

January 1, 2016 Wage Grid

				January 2	201	6 w/1.5% Ir	ncre	ase		
			Step One			ep Two	Ste	ep Three	Ste	ep Four
	ST	ART	3 Months			Months	Mo	onths24	36 Months	
GROUP 1										
Annual	\$	30,147.94	\$	31,108.90	\$	32,107.55	\$	33,125.04	\$	34,180.22
Monthly	\$	2,512.33	\$	2,592.41	\$	2,675.63	\$	2,760.42	\$	2,848.35
Bi-weekly	\$	1,159.54	\$	1,196.50	\$	1,234.91	\$	1,274.04	\$	1,314.62
Hourly	\$	16.56	\$	17.09	\$	17.64	\$	18.20	\$	18.78
GROUP 2										
Annual	\$	39,248.84	\$	41,509.94	\$	43,902.93	\$	46,427.82	\$	49,103.45
Monthly	\$	3,270.74	\$	3,459.16	\$	3,658.58	\$	3,868.99	\$	4,091.95
Bi-weekly	\$	1,509.57	\$	1,596.54	\$	1,688.57	\$	1,785.69	\$	1,888.59
Hourly	\$	21.57	\$	22.81	\$	24.12	\$	25.51	\$	26.98
GROUP 3										
Annual		47,671.42	\$	48,632.39	\$	49,593.35	\$	50,573.16	\$	51,590.34
Monthly	\$	3,972.62	\$	4,052.70	\$	4,132.78	\$	4,214.43	\$	4,299.20
Bi-weekly	\$	1,833.52	\$	1,870.48	\$	1,907.44	\$	1,945.12	\$	1,984.24
Hourly	\$	26.19	\$	26.72	\$	27.25	\$	27.79	\$	28.35
GROUP 4										
Annual	\$	•	\$	51,081.91		52,099.40	\$	53,135.74	\$	•
Monthly	\$	4,173.60	\$	4,256.83	\$	4,341.62	\$	4,427.98	\$	4,515.91
Bi-weekly	\$	1,926.28	\$	1,964.69	\$		\$	2,043.68	\$	2,084.27
Hourly	\$	27.52	\$	28.07	\$	28.63	\$	29.20	\$	29.78
GROUP 5					١.				١.	
Annual		52,382.04	\$	54,077.86	_	55,830.21	\$	57,639.09		59,523.33
Monthly	\$	4,365.17	\$	4,506.49		4,652.52	\$	4,803.26		
Bi-weekly	\$	2,014.69			_	2,147.32				
Hourly	\$	28.78	\$	29.71	\$	30.68	\$	31.67	\$	32.71
GROUP 6										
Annual	\$	57,789.82	\$	59,523.33	\$	61,313.36	\$	63,159.93	\$	65,081.86
Monthly	\$	4,815.82	\$	4,960.28		5,109.45	\$	5,263.33	\$	5,423.49
Bi-weekly	\$	2,222.69	\$	2,289.36	\$				\$	
Hourly	\$	31.75	\$	32.71	\$		\$	34.70	\$	35.76

January 1, 2017 Wage Grid

	January 2017 w/1.25% Increase										
			Step One		Ste	p Two	Ste	ep Three	Step Four		
	STA	START		3 Months		12 Months		onths24	36 Months		
GROUP 1											
Annual	\$	30,524.79	\$	31,497.76	\$	32,508.90	\$	33,539.11	\$	34,607.48	
Monthly	\$	2,543.73	\$	2,624.81	\$	2,709.07	\$	2,794.93	\$	2,883.96	
Bi-weekly	\$	1,174.03	\$	1,211.45	\$	1,250.34	\$	1,289.97	\$	1,331.06	
Hourly	\$	16.77	\$	17.31	\$	17.86	\$	18.43	\$	19.02	
		0				0					
GROUP 2											
Annual	\$	39,739.45	\$	42,028.81	\$	44,451.72	\$	47,008.17	\$	49,717.24	
Monthly	\$	3,311.62	\$	3,502.40	\$	3,704.31	\$	3,917.35	\$	4,143.10	
Bi-weekly	\$	1,528.44	\$	1,616.49	\$	1,709.68	\$	1,808.01	\$	1,912.20	
Hourly	\$	21.83	\$	23.09	\$	24.42	\$	25.83	\$	27.32	
GROUP 3											
Annual	\$	48,267.32	\$	49,240.29	\$	50,213.27	\$	51,205.33	\$	52,235.22	
Monthly	\$	4,022.28	\$	4,103.36	\$	4,184.44	\$	4,267.11	\$	4,352.94	
Bi-weekly	\$	1,856.44	\$	1,893.86	\$	1,931.28	\$	1,969.44	\$	2,009.05	
Hourly	\$	26.52	\$	27.06	\$	27.59	\$	28.13	\$	28.70	
GROUP 4											
Annual	\$	50,709.30	\$	51,720.43	\$	52,750.64	\$	53,799.93	\$	54,868.30	
Monthly	\$	4,225.77	\$	4,310.04	\$	4,395.89	\$	4,483.33	\$	4,572.36	
Bi-weekly	\$	1,950.36	\$	1,989.25	\$	2,028.87	\$	2,069.23	\$	2,110.32	
Hourly	\$	27.86	\$	28.42	\$	28.98	\$	29.56	\$	30.15	
GROUP 5											
Annual	\$	53,036.81	\$	54,753.83	\$	56,528.09	\$	58,359.57		60,267.37	
Monthly	\$	4,419.73	\$	4,562.82	\$	4,710.67	\$	4,863.30	\$	5,022.28	
Bi-weekly	\$	2,039.88	\$	2,105.92	\$	2,174.16	\$	2,244.60	\$	2,317.98	
Hourly	\$	29.14	\$	30.08	\$	31.06	\$	32.07	\$	33.11	
GROUP 6											
Annual	\$	58,512.20	\$	60,267.37	\$	62,079.78	\$	63,949.42	\$	65,895.38	
Monthly	\$	4,876.02	\$	5,022.28	\$	5,173.32	\$	5,329.12	\$	5,491.28	
Bi-weekly	\$	2,250.47	\$	2,317.98	\$	2,387.68	\$	2,459.59	\$	2,534.44	
Hourly	\$	32.15	\$	33.11	\$	34.11	\$	35.14	\$	36.21	

CALCULATION OF RATES

1. **ANNUAL RATE** = 1820 TIMES HOURLY RATE

2. **MONTHLY RATE** = ANNUAL RATE DIVIDED BY TWELVE

3. **BIWEEKLY RATE** = ANNUAL RATE DIVIDED BY TWENTY-SIX

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1 – GRAVELEY LOCATION

BETWEEN	VP CREDIT UNION								
AND									
	MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378)								
RE:	GRAVELEY LOCATION								
WHEREAS the week;	he Parties have agreed that the normal work week will consist of thirty-five (35) hours per								
	EAS the Parties have further agreed that full-time regular employees will be entitled to two;) minute paid rest periods per day;								
	EAS the Parties recognize that the circumstances at the Graveley location are such that eriods are not possible;								
AND WHERI	EAS there are currently two full time regular employees who work at the Graveley location:								
1. The re	egular hours of work at the Graveley location will be:								
	Monday to Thursday, 8:00 AM to 4:00 PM (seven hours standard work day) Friday, 8:00 AM to 2:00 PM (five hour work day)								
	hortened workday on Fridays compensates employees at this location for the paid breaks ceived over the week.								
3. The G	The Graveley location will be closed for one hour during the lunch break.								
	mployees at the Graveley location will be permitted, where member traffic allows, to eat or drink discretely at the work station in order to stay refreshed over the work day.								
to dis Partie	d the circumstances at the Graveley location change, the Parties agree to meet in good faith cuss whether it is necessary to discontinue or modify this Letter of Understanding. If the is are unable to reach a mutual agreement, the Parties will utilize alternate dispute resolution Article 19 of the Collective Agreement.								
Neal Tyldsley Board Chair VPCU	Barry Hodson Union Representative MoveUP (Canadian Office & Professional Employees' Union, Local 378)								
Date:									

E&OE /sh: usw2009